
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT OF 
THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

(ORLANDO DIVISION) 
 

HILTON RESORTS CORPORATION, 
a Delaware corporation, et al.     CASE NO.: 6:19-cv-305-Orl-40GJK 

 
Plaintiffs, 

 
v. 
        Dispositive Motion 
MITCHELL REED SUSSMAN, 
an individual, 

 
Defendant. 

___________________________________/ 
 

DEFENDANT, MITCHELL REED SUSSMAN’S MOTION TO DISMISS AND  
INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 
Defendant, Mitchell Reed Sussman, Esq. (“Mr. Sussman”), by and through his undersigned 

counsel, and pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) & (7), respectfully requests this Court dismiss 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint (Doc. 1) for the reasons set forth below: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. On or about February 14, 2019, Plaintiffs filed their 52-page Complaint seeking 

damages and to enjoin Mr. Sussman from providing legal services to individuals related to 

timeshare agreements. (Compl., Ex. A). 

2. The Plaintiffs to this action are only a few of the participants in what is now a series 

of legal actions that have been brought against Mr. Sussman and other attorneys like him by 

numerous other entities in the business of selling timeshare properties.  Each such action involves 

a unique, but overlapping, constellation of legal theories – each representing an attempt to out 

litigate and prevent Mr. Sussman, and other attorneys like him, from assisting aggrieved timeshare 

Case 6:19-cv-00305-GAP-DCI   Document 23   Filed 03/28/19   Page 1 of 18 PageID 351



2 
 

owners to extricate themselves from what have become onerous and burdensome timeshare 

agreements. 

3. The extraordinary variety of the proceedings emphasizes the uncertain legal 

grounds upon which they are each based.  The practical remedy each seeks is, however, clear:  stop 

Mr. Sussman from providing legal services to timeshare owners. 

4. The constellation of invalid legal theories brought against Mr. Sussman in the 

instant case is as follows:  False Advertising and Unfair Competition under the Lanham Act 15 

U.S.C. § 1125(a) (Count I); Declaratory Judgment (Count II); Violation of § 817.535, Fla. Stat. 

(Count III);  Tortious Interference with Existing Contracts (Count V); Violation of Florida’s 

Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, § 501.201, et seq. (“FDUTPA”) (Count VI); Violation 

of Nevada’s Deceptive Trade Practices Act, NRS 598.0903, et seq. & NRS 41.600 (“NDTPA”) 

(Count VII). 

5. Each of the foregoing counts should dismissed because not a single legal theory 

presented is established by the facts alleged or exhibits attached to the Complaint. 

6. In brief, Count I under the Lanham Act fails because the website makes no 

representation of unqualified fact that is harmful to the reputation or sales of Plaintiffs.  Count II 

fails because it requests an impermissible advisory opinion and because numerous indispensable 

parties have not been joined in the action.  Count III fails because the allegations do not trigger the 

protections of § 817.535(8), Fla. Stat., or state a claim for relief thereunder.  Count V fails because 

the facts do not establish that Mr. Sussman induced the breach of any contract and because he is 

otherwise permitted to advise his clients to breach contracts in furtherance of their legal 

representation.  Counts VI and VII fail because the facts alleged do not establish harm to Plaintiffs 

under either statute. 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS1 

7. Plaintiffs, LV Tower 52, LLC and Hilton Resorts Corporation (“Developer 

Plaintiffs”), are in the business of selling timeshare interests to individuals.  Some of these 

individuals require loans to purchase timeshares and Developer Plaintiffs offer mortgages to those 

individuals.  (Compl. ¶¶ 1, 42-44). 

8. In addition to any financing and loan agreements, each purchaser is required to 

execute a series of additional agreements requiring the perpetual payment of management fees and 

maintenance fees to the Association Plaintiffs2, so long as they own the timeshare interests.  

(Compl. ¶¶ 2, 37-41). 

9. Mr. Sussman is an attorney who offers legal services commonly described as 

timeshare exit, cancellation, or relief services to timeshare owners in distress as a consequence of 

their timeshare interest ownership and he charges a fee for that service. (Compl. ¶ 48) 

10. Mr. Sussman has a website describing such services, providing examples of 

satisfied customers, and offering a 100% money back guarantee. (Compl. ¶¶ 47-50).  

11. Mr. Sussman’s website encourages timeshare owners who believe they may have 

been the victim of fraud to contact his legal office for a complementary evaluation of as to whether 

or not they have a right to terminate their timeshare contract.  (Compl. Ex. A, page 3).  The website 

does not, however, claim all timeshare owners are entitled to cancel their contracts, regardless of 

their circumstances. 3 

                                                            
1 Any allegations of fact from the Complaint referenced herein are solely for purposes of this motion and are not 
admitted. 
2 As defined in the Complaint at ¶ 10. 
3 Pursuant to Fed. R. Ev. 201, the undersigned respectfully requests the Court take judicial notice of the contents of 
Mr. Sussman’s website: http://www.timesharelegalaction.com, referenced in Plaintiffs’ Complaint. 
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12. Mr. Sussman’s website also provides the following express disclaimer: “The 

examples of Proof of Performance contained on these pages are examples only. The[y] cannot be 

construed or interpreted as a prediction or guaranty of future success. Every case is different.” 

(Compl. Ex. B, page 3). 

13. The Complaint does not allege that the timeshare owners were ready, willing, or 

able to continue honoring their timeshare agreements, but for their encounter with Mr. Sussman’s 

website. 

14. The reality is, timeshare owners come to Mr. Sussman, and other attorneys like 

him, because they are already burdened by their obligations under their respective timeshare 

agreements and seek legal services to relieve them of some portion of that burden, where possible. 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

I. Legal Standard 

“To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual 

allegations to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atlantic Corp v. Twombly, 

550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). “The plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but 

it asks for more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 

556  U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Twombly at 556 ); Moore v. Grady Memorial Hospital Corp., 

834 F.3d 1168, 1171 (11th Cir. 2016).  See also, Blair v. Wachovia Mortg. Corp., No. 5:11-cv-

566-Oc-37TBS, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 33941, at *5 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 13, 2012) (“Detailed factual 

allegations are not required, but a ‘pleading that offers “labels and conclusions” or ‘a formulaic 

recitation of the elements of a cause of action will not do’”). 
 

II. Count I Fails to State a Valid Claim for Relief under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 
§ 1125(A). 
 

To state a claim for false advertising under the Lanham Act, Plaintiffs must make factual 

allegations that, taken as true, establish: 
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“(1) that the defendant’s statements were false or misleading; (2) the 
statements deceived, or had the capacity to deceive, consumers; (3) 
the deception had a material effect on the consumers' purchasing 
decision; (4) the misrepresented service affects interstate commerce; 
and (5) [the plaintiff] has been, or likely will be, injured as a result 
of the false or misleading statement. 

 
Duty Free Americas, Inc. v. Estee Lauder Cos., 797 F.3d 1248, 1277 (11th Cir. 2015) (quoting 

Sovereign Military Hospitaller Order v. Fla. Priory of Knights Hospitallers, 702 F.3d 1279, 1294 

(11th Cir. 2012)).   

In cases thematically identical to the one at bar, the Court held that a 100% guarantee was 

potentially sufficiently misleading to meet the pleading standard at the motion to dismiss stage. 

See Orange Lake Country Club, Inc. v. Reed Hein & Assocs., LLC, No. 6:17-cv-1542-01-1-31DCI, 

2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 182131*23 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 24, 2018); Westgate Resorts, Ltd. v. Reed Hein 

& Assocs., LLC, No. 6:18-cv-1088-Orl-31DCI, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 182132, at *23-24 (M.D. 

Fla. Oct. 24, 2018).  Here, however, Plaintiffs’ correctly allege that Mr. Sussman offers a “100% 

money back Guarantee” not an unequivocal guarantee of success.  That is, if a timeshare owner 

hires Mr. Sussman, and relief is unavailable to them, they are entitled to their money back. 

 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the statements which are alleged to form the basis of the 

Lanham Act violations are set forth in the complaint as follows: 

(a) Defendant is able to get every HGV Owner out of their timeshare 
contract without any impact to their credit and no tax consequences; 
(b) Timeshare companies, including Plaintiffs, have become “more 
agreeable to releasing timeshare owners from their timeshare 
obligations” due to the “techniques” Defendant has “pioneered”; and 
(c) Defendant’s practice of preparing and recording (fraudulent) 
deeds relieves HGV Owners of their contractual obligations to 
Plaintiffs. 
 

(Complaint ¶¶ 113). 
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It is true that the second statement “timeshare companies becoming more agreeable to 

releasing timeshare owners from their timeshare obligation” appears on the website.  The other 

statements, however, appear nowhere on the website and are expressly contradicted by the Exhibits 

to the Complaint.  For example, the website contains the following express disclaimer: “The 

examples of Proof of Performance contained on these pages are examples only. The[y] cannot be 

construed or interpreted as a prediction or guaranty of future success. Every case is different.” 

(Compl. Ex. B, page 3). 

The Complaint therefore fails to allege any actually “false or misleading statements” as 

required under the § 1125(a).  Estee Lauder Cos., 797 F.3d at 1277.  Accordingly, there is no basis 

to sustain this cause of action and it should therefore be dismissed. 

A. The website’s alleged misrepresentations did not cause the harm allegedly sustained. 

“To invoke the Lanham Act’s cause of action for false advertising, a plaintiff must plead 

(and ultimately prove) an injury to a commercial interest in sales or business reputation 

proximately caused by the defendant’s misrepresentations.”  Lexmark Int'l, Inc. v. Static Control 

Components, Inc., 572 U.S. 118, 140 (2014).  In a nearly identical case, this Court found that 

allegedly false representations about the success rate of getting timeshare owners out of their 

contracts does not cause harm to the reputation of individuals such as the Plaintiffs here.  Orange 

Lake Country Club v. Castle Law Grp., P.C., No. 6:17-cv-1044-Orl-31DCI, 2018 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 52511, at *22 (M.D. Fla. Mar. 29, 2018).  Furthermore, there is no allegation in the 

Complaint that Mr. Sussman claimed that Plaintiffs have engaged in illegal or unlawful conduct –  

only that such conduct may constitute a valid reason for cancellation of a timeshare contract. 

The website merely suggests timeshare owners may, under certain circumstances, be 

afforded relief from their contracts.  This cannot reasonably be construed as the proximate cause 
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of “economic or reputational injury flowing directly from the [alleged] deception wrought by the 

defendant’s advertising....”  Lexmark, 572 U.S. 118 at 133.  Even if some timeshare owners 

unilaterally breach their contracts after visiting Mr. Sussman’s website, that breach cannot be 

attributed to the website based on the facts alleged.  Accordingly, this count should be dismissed. 

III. Count II Fails to State a Valid Declaratory Action 

To invoke this Court’s discretionary jurisdiction to issue a declaratory judgment, Plaintiffs 

must allege the existence of a substantial continuing controversy which presents an immediate 

threat of definite injury, rather than the threat of hypothetical, speculative future injury.  Nat'l 

Union Fire Ins. Co. v. F. Vicino Drywall II, Inc., No. 10-cv-60273, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 153453, 

at *7 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 24, 2010) (citing Emory v. Peeler, 756 F.2d 1547, 1551-52 (11th Cir. 1985)) 

(“The remote possibility that a future injury may happen is not sufficient to satisfy the 'actual 

controversy' requirement for declaratory judgments.")). 

In Count II, Plaintiffs do not seek to invalidate the deeds attached to the Complaint as 

Composite Exhibits H & I.  Rather, Plaintiffs ask this Court to  decide: 1) that any deed prepared 

or recorded by Mr. Sussman; 2) which purports to transfer a timeshare interest from anyone who 

qualifies for membership in the indeterminate class “HGV Owners4;” 3) to either Plaintiffs or any 

third party; 4) without Plaintiffs’ knowledge, approval, or acceptance, is invalid.  (Compl. page 

30-31).  Plaintiffs also ask the Court to determine that those HGV Owners, none of which are 

parties, are liable for any, unspecified, contractual obligations owed to Plaintiffs. (Compl. page 

31).   

This is a request to adjudicate future, hypothetical circumstances and speculative injury.  It 

is impossible to know what contracts or contractual obligations are at risk of being breached, who 

                                                            
4 Defined as anyone who hires Mr. Sussman who owns a vacation ownership interest in a Hilton Grand Vacations-
branded timeshare property. 
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may breach them, or the facts which may render a future deed fraudulent.  Such a declaration 

regarding possible future injury would be an impermissible advisory opinion.  Safeco Ins. Co. of 

Ill. v. Tremblay, No. 2:16-cv-837-FtM-38CM, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 128857, at *11 (M.D. Fla. 

Aug. 1, 2018) ("[I]t is not the function of a United States District Court to sit in judgment on these 

nice and intriguing questions which today may readily be imagined, but may never in fact come to 

pass.") (quoting Am. Fid. & Cas. Co. v. Pa. Threshermen & Farmers' Mut. Cas. Ins. Co., 280 F.2d 

453, 461 (5th Cir. 1960)). 

Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring a declaratory action based on these purely 

speculative injuries and this count should be dismissed.  Cummings v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. 

Co., No. 6:08-cv-417-Orl-19KRS, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 125730, at *3-4 (M.D. Fla. Sep. 15, 

2008)). 

A. This declaratory action wastefully multiplies this litigation. 

Furthermore, Count III already provides a remedy for those non-hypothetical deeds 

Plaintiffs allege to be fraudulent.  The Court should therefore decline to exercise its discretionary 

jurisdiction with respect to Count II because it only multiplies this litigation and serves no useful 

purpose in adjudicating the controversy between the parties.  See, e.g., Harvey v. Del. Am. Life Ins. 

Co., No. 6:14-cv-301-Orl-40KRS, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 199218, at *8 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 2, 2014) 

(“Where victory on a declaratory judgment claim would not provide ‘relief above and beyond’ the 

relief afforded by victory on the breach of contract claim, the declaratory judgment claim should 

be dismissed.”) (quoting Trilogy Props. LLC v. SB Hotel Assocs. LLC, No. 09-21406-CIV, 2010 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 143725, 2010 WL 7411912, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 23, 2010)).  This count seeks 

superfluous redress for hypothetical, future circumstances and speculative injuries and should 

therefore be dismissed. 
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B. Plaintiffs failed to join indispensable parties. 

This count seeks a declaration that Defendant’s practice of returning the timeshare 

properties to the Developer Plaintiffs by “deeding back”  the timeshares is somehow fraudulent.  

(Compl. ¶¶ 121).  The count requests a declaration that the deeds are of “no legal effect” and do 

not transfer title back to Developer Plaintiffs. (Compl., ¶¶ 125).  By seeking a ruling from this 

Court that the deeds are of no legal effect, the Plaintiffs ask this Court to rule that “the HGV 

Owners remain the legal owners of the timeshares.”  (Compl. ¶¶ 125).   Count II therefore seeks 

to adjudicate the ownership of interests in real property as to innumerate and unknown timeshare 

owners.  No timeshare owners are parties to this lawsuit, however.  Under Florida law, it is well-

established that “all holders of legal title to [] property are indispensable parties.”  Lee v. Cole, 46 

So. 3d 612, 613 (Fla. 2d DCA 2010).  These timeshare owners are therefore required parties 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a)(1)(B).5  C & J Glob. Invs., Inc. v. Knight, No. 8:16-cv-1039-T-

17AEP, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 186644, at *7-8 (M.D. Fla. May 11, 2017) (holding that litigation 

which risks impairing a non-party’s interests in real property is subject to dismissal to the extent 

that person is not added as a party).  Accordingly Count II should be dismissed. 

IV. Count III Fails to Plead Facts Necessary to Establish Entitlement to Relief 
Under § 817.535, Fla. Stat. 
 

Section 817.535(8), Florida Statutes, creates a civil cause of action, and provides: 

(a) Any person adversely affected by an instrument filed in the official record 
which contains a materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or 
representation has a civil cause of action under this section without regard to 
whether criminal charges are pursued under subsection (2). … 

                                                            
5 (B) that person claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that disposing of the action 
in the person’s absence may: 

(i) as a practical matter impair or impede the person’s ability to protect the interest; or 
(ii) leave an existing party subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent 
obligations because of the interest. 

Fed. R. Civ. P 9 
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(b) Upon a finding that the instrument contains a materially false, fictitious, or 
fraudulent statement or representation such that the instrument does not establish a 
legitimate property or lien interest in favor of another person: 

 
[Subsections 1-3 provide for the relief available to the aggrieved party the details 
of which are not relevant here.] 
 

§ 817.535(8), Fla. Stat. 

A. Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring a cause of action under § 817.535, Fla. 
Stat. 

 
Plaintiffs’ allegations do not establish that they have standing to bring a cause of action 

under this statute.  Under subsection (8), Plaintiffs are only entitled to civil relief “[u]pon a finding 

that the instrument contains a materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation 

such that the instrument does not establish a legitimate property or lien interest in favor of another 

person.”  § 817.535(8)(b), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).  The plain statutory language requires that 

the aggrieved party be a person other than the person to whom the document purports to grant a 

favorable interest. 

There is sparse case law on point, but the statutory language strongly suggests that the 

adversely affected property, and the property which is the object of the relevant document, are one 

and the same property.  For example, Section 817.535(3) of the statute increases the criminal 

penalty of a violation if “the owner of the property subject to the false instrument is a public officer 

or employee” indicating that the owner of the subject property is the person with standing.  § 

817.535(3), Fla. Stat.  See also Hunters Run Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Centerline Real Estate, LLC, 

No. 18-80407-CIV, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 215423 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 22, 2018).  The Court in 

Hunters Run made clear that: 

The only person who can file an action under this section is a person 
whose real or personal property is affected by the false document. A 
random third-party may not. Centerline alleges that it is the owner 
of the Properties, which are now encumbered by liens containing 
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materially false information. Nothing more is required to satisfy the 
"adversely affected" requirement.” 

 
Hunters Run, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 215423, at *42 (emphasis added). 

Here, Plaintiffs do not allege that the timeshare property has been impaired, devalued, or 

otherwise compromised by the deeds.  Rather, Plaintiffs are alleging that the deeds cause timeshare 

owners to believe they are absolved of their obligations under other, unrelated contracts, which 

causes harm to Plaintiffs.  This argument demonstrates the lack of sufficient nexus between the 

deed’s validity and the injury alleged such to invoke the statute.   

Plaintiffs’ allegations establish that their injury is caused by the misapprehension of 

timeshare owners as relates to the deeds’ import, not by the legitimacy of the deed itself.  Indeed, 

the Plaintiffs’ Complaint suggests that even if the deeds were valid it would not absolve timeshare 

owners of their contractual obligations.  Accordingly, § 817.535, Fla. Stat., is inapplicable to facts 

alleged at bar, Plaintiffs do not have standing to bring this cause, and Count III should therefore 

be dismissed. 

B. Plaintiffs’ allegation that the consideration is false is immaterial under § 817.535, 
Fla. Stat. 

 
Section 817.535(2)(a), Fla. Stat., imposes liability when “A person who files or directs a 

filer to file, with the intent to defraud or harass another, any instrument containing a materially 

false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation that purports to affect an owner’s interest 

in the property described in the instrument….” (emphasis added).  There is no binding authority 

directly on point on this issue, but the circuit courts of Florida have found that the materiality 

element is satisfied only if the truth or falsity of the alleged misrepresentation is material to the 

plaintiff.  See Cullen v. St. Johns River Water Mgmt. Dist., 2017 Fla. Cir. LEXIS 12238 (Fla. 7th 

Cir., May 22, 2017).  In Cullen, the trial court found that the falsity of the statement “There is no 
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mortgage encumbering the Property” was not material as to the plaintiff because the plaintiff was 

on notice of the mortgage anyway and could not have relied upon that statement.  Cullen at *7. 

Here, the accuracy of the deed’s recited consideration is not material as to the Plaintiffs. 6  

Under Florida law, an inaccurate recitation of monetary consideration is not a fatal flaw to a deed 

otherwise voluntarily conveyed by the grantor.  United States v. Morales, 36 F. Supp. 3d 1276, 

1288 (M.D. Fla. 2014).  “The Florida Supreme Court has held ‘that a deed, sufficient in form, 

voluntarily executed by a competent grantor, is effective to convey the owner's legal title regardless 

of whether he receives a contractual consideration.’” Id. (quoting Chase Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n 

v. Schreiber, 479 So. 2d 90, 101 (Fla. 1985).  The Florida Supreme Court in Schreiber stated 

conclusively “[w]e therefore hold that there does not need to be consideration in order for an owner 

of land to convey it by deed to another person.”  Schreiber at 101. 

Similarly, in Nevada, a recitation of nominal consideration is sufficient, and gifts of land 

do not require consideration at all.  Rainbow Blvd. v. State ex rel. Dep't Hwys., 615 P.2d 931, 933 

(Nev. 1980).  Accordingly, accurate recitation of consideration is not material because the intent 

of the timeshare owners to grant the deeds is unrefuted.  The Complaint points to no other 

misrepresentations within the deeds and this count should therefore be dismissed.  

C. Plaintiffs are not entitled to relief under 817.535(8), Fla. Stat., even if the deeds 
were not accepted. 

 
Finally, Plaintiffs’ allegation that the deeds were not accepted does not support a claim for 

relief under § 817.535, Fla. Stat.  Specifically, the civil remedy is available only when “an 

instrument filed in the official record [] contains a materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent 

                                                            
6 Pursuant to Fed. R. Ev. 201, the undersigned respectfully requests the Court take judicial notice of the following  
government-approved documents relating to recitations of nominal consideration:  
https://www.mypalmbeachclerk.com/Home/ShowDocument?id=1040; 
https://www.nyecounty.net/DocumentCenter/View/10153/Nominal-Consideration-DTAX-Letters?bidId= 
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statement or representation….” § 817.535(8)(a), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).  A grantee’s 

acceptance of a deed is necessarily subsequent to its creation and is not an element within the 

deed’s text as contemplated by this statute.  Accordingly, this Count III should be dismissed. 

V. Count V Fails to State a Cause of Action for Tortious Interference with Existing 
Contracts 
 

In order to state its claim for relief for tortious interference, Plaintiffs must allege: “(1) The 

existence of a contract, (2) The defendant's knowledge of the contract, (3) The defendant's 

intentional procurement of the contract's breach, (4) Absence of any justification or privilege, [and] 

(5) Damages resulting from the breach.”  Johnson Enters. of Jacksonville v. Fpl Grp., 162 F.3d 

1290, 1321-22 (11th Cir. 1998).   

A. Plaintiffs have not identified any contracts which is fatal to their cause of 
action. 

 
It is impossible to conclude Mr. Sussman was without justification or privilege to advise 

his clients to breach any contract because the Complaint does not identify a single one.  It is 

therefore impossible for Mr. Sussman to defend himself.  The circumstances of any timeshare 

owner’s alleged breach is necessarily unique.  That the payments are “reflected in disclosure 

documents required by various state laws” which appear to include Florida, Nevada, and Hawaii, 

is not enough.  (Compl. ¶ 2).  Even assuming Mr. Sussman advised a timeshare owner to stop 

paying one or another Plaintiff, the allegations of the Complaint do not establish the absence of 

justification because the terms, and applicable state law, of any such agreement are unknown. 

B. Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to establish that the website induced a breach. 

As discussed above, the representations alleged to exist on Mr. Sussman’s website cannot 

reasonably be considered an inducement to breach any contract.  The website contains express 

disclaimers regarding the availability of timeshare relief and does not guarantee success. Indeed, 
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Plaintiffs claim that Mr. Sussman’s website is, in fact, the only interaction Mr. Sussman has with 

any timeshare owner. (Compl. ¶ 73).  If, as the Complaint suggests, Mr. Sussman never interacts 

with timeshare owners, and the website’s representations do not constitute inducements on their 

face, Plaintiffs’ have failed to allege facts sufficient to establish that Mr. Sussman has induced 

anyone to breach any contract.  

C. Mr. Sussman cannot interfere with the contracts of his clients because he is 
not a stranger to those contracts. 

 
Under Florida law, an attorney is his client’s agent and is therefore not a stranger to the 

client’s contracts with respect to which the attorney provides advice.  Richard Bertram, Inc. v. 

Sterling Bank & Tr., 820 So. 2d 963, 965 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (“an agent is not liable for tortious 

interference with a contract of which his or her principal is a party.”) (citing Abruzzo v. Haller, 

603 So. 2d 1338, 1339-40 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)). 

A limited exception to this rule is where the agent is acting “solely with ulterior purposes 

and the advice is not in the principal’s best interest.”  Westgate Resorts, Ltd. v. Reed Hein & 

Assocs., LLC, No. 6:18-cv-1088-Orl-31DCI, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 182132, at *12-13 (M.D. Fla. 

Oct. 24, 2018) (emphasis added).  The Plaintiffs attempt to invoke this exception by alleging that 

Mr. Sussman acted with “purely selfish and mercenary reasons so as to earn and retain the large 

pre-paid retainer fee without actually providing any meaningful, legally valid services to” the 

timeshare owners.  (Compl. ¶ 151).  This allegation is entirely rebutted by the Plaintiffs’ admission 

that Mr. Sussman provides a 100% moneyback guarantee.  (Compl. ¶ 48).  It is therefore 

impossible to conclude Mr. Sussman is acting solely with the ulterior motive of earning money 

where the clients are entitled to a refund when services cannot be rendered. 

 

Case 6:19-cv-00305-GAP-DCI   Document 23   Filed 03/28/19   Page 14 of 18 PageID 364



15 
 

D. Attorneys may not be held liable for advising a client to breach a contract in 
the course of their representation. 

 
In addition to the agency-principal analysis set out above, the consensus in jurisdictions 

throughout the United States is that attorneys cannot be liable to a third party for advising their 

clients to breach contracts and that to create a tort in such instances is against public policy.  

Rhodes, Inc. v. Morrow, 937 F. Supp. 1202, 1216 (M.D.N.C. 1996); Four Finger Art Factory, Inc. 

v. DiNicola, 99 Civ. 1259 (JGK), 2000 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 18998, at *21-22 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 21, 

2000) (“An attorney can not be liable to a third party for advising his client to breach a contract.”); 

Crockett & Myers, Ltd. v. Napier, Fitzgerald & Kirby, LLP, 440 F. Supp. 2d 1184, 1196 (D. Nev. 

2006) (citing Schick v. Lerner, 238 Cal. Rptr. 902 (Cal. App. 2 Dist. 1987) (“California has 

recognized an attorney cannot be held liable for urging a client to breach a contract with a third 

party.”). 

Indeed, the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States protects an attorney 

who may advise his or her client to breach a contract from liability for tortious interference.  

Silverhorse Racing, LLC v. Ford Motor Co., 232 F. Supp. 3d 1206, 1211 (M.D. Fla. 2017) (“courts 

have extended the Noerr[-Pennington] doctrine to protect First Amendment ‘petitioning of the 

government from claims brought under federal and state laws including . . . common-law tortious 

interference with contractual relations,’”) (citing Video Int'l Prod., Inc. v. Warner-Amex Cable 

Commc'ns, Inc., 858 F.2d 1075, 1084 (5th Cir. 1988)). 

VI. Counts VI and VII fail to state a cause of action because the alleged 
misrepresentations did not harm Plaintiffs. 
 

A. Plaintiffs failed to adequately allege they have been harmed for purposes of 
FDUTPA. 

 
To establish a claim under FDUTPA, Plaintiffs must allege:  (1) a deceptive act or unfair 

practice; (2) causation; and (3) actual damages. Caribbean Cruise Line, Inc. v. Better Business 
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Bureau of Palm Beach County, Inc., 169 So. 3d 164, 167 (Fla. 4th DCA 2015). 

Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Sussman’s unfair and deceptive practices are, in short, that Mr. 

Sussman solicits and otherwise uses his website to convince timeshare owners that they are 

permitted to unilaterally cancel their contracts with the FDUTPA Plaintiffs7 when the timeshare 

owners are not permitted to do so. (Compl. ¶ 162).  This Court has already determined that such 

misrepresentations “would have caused harm, if at all, to the consumers they targeted [the 

timeshare owners] rather than the Plaintiffs.” Westgate Resorts, Ltd. v. Castle Law Grp., P.C., No. 

6:17-cv-1063-Orl-31DCI, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 208873, at *14 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 20, 2017).  The 

Court in this 2017 Castle Law Group opinion held that: “soliciting the Westgate Owners through 

ads that deceived them into thinking that they could unilaterally cancel their timeshare interests; 

… and by falsely informing clients who were Westgate Owners that their timeshare matters had 

been resolved even though they had not been” was insufficient to establish harm to the plaintiffs 

whose contracts they allegedly breached.  Id.  The allegations here are identical and Plaintiffs have 

therefore failed to sufficiently allege that the misrepresentations harmed Plaintiffs under FDUTPA. 

B. Plaintiffs failed to adequately allege they have been harmed for purposes of 
NDTPA. 

 
Similarly to FDUTPA, “to establish a claim under the analogous Nevada unfair trade 

practices statute, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.600(1), a plaintiff must prove that (1) an act of consumer 

fraud (defined in § 41.600(2)(e) to include a "deceptive trade practice") by the defendant (2) caused 

(3) damage to the plaintiff.”  Viridis Corp. v. TCA Glob. Credit Master Fund, LP, 721 F. App'x 

865, 876 n.13 (11th Cir. 2018) (citing Picus v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 256 F.R.D. 651, 658 (D. 

Nev. 2009)).  Here, Plaintiffs allege the same set of allegedly deceptive acts as described above.  

(Compl. ¶ 173).  For the reasons set forth above, Plaintiffs cannot establish they have been harmed 

                                                            
7 As defined in the Complaint at ¶ 154. 
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by those alleged misrepresentations.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs are not “victim[s] of consumer fraud” 

as required by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 41.600 and do not have standing to bring this claim.   

C. Plaintiffs have failed to plead with the requisite specificity to establish fraud 
under the NDTPA. 

 
The Federal District Courts require claims under the NDTPA to be plead with the 

heightened specificity requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Shlesinger v. Bank of Am., N.A., No. 

2:11-cv-2020-PMP-PAL, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 102030, at *17 (D. Nev. July 23, 2012).  

“Pleading fraud with particularity requires allegations regarding the time, place, and specific 

content of the false representations as well as the identities of the parties to the 

misrepresentations…what is false or misleading about a statement, and why it is false." Id. 

These requirements are plainly not met.  The Complaint does not identify the time, place, 

or content of any specific fraudulent misrepresentation as to any specific timeshare owner and this 

count should therefore be dismissed. 

D. The alleged transfers of timeshare interests are exempt from the requirements 
of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 119A.720. 

 
Nev. Rev. Stat. § 119A.720 expressly excludes from applicability any person described in 

paragraph (a) of subsection 3 of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 119A.4771, which includes “…a purchaser who 

acquires time shares for his or her own use and occupancy and who later offers to resell 12 or 

fewer of those time shares in any one calendar year.”  Nev. Rev. Stat. § 119A.4771(3)(a). 

There is no allegation in the Complaint that supports that this exclusion does not apply or 

suggests that any timeshare owner did not purchase the timeshare interests, other than for his or 

her own use.  There is also no allegation that any timeshare owner sold more than 12 timeshare 

interests within a year.  Because such transactions are expressly excluded from Nev. Rev. Stat. § 
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119A.720, Mr. Sussman is not liable where he only drafted the paperwork, if he did anything at 

all.  Accordingly, Counts VI and VII should be dismissed. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons the Complaint against Mr. Sussman should be dismissed, and 

such other relief as is just and proper be granted. 
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